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UNI TED STATES COURT OF | NTERNATI ONAL TRADE

UNI TED STATES,

Plaintiff,
BEFORE: Pogue, Judge
V. Court No. 96-12-02853

NI PPON M NI ATURE BEARI NG CORPORATI ON
and M NEBEA CO., LTD.,

Def endant s.

[ This slip opinion was previously issued as a nenorandum opi ni on
and order dated Decenber 14, 2000. It is being published as a
precedential disposition pursuant to the Court’s June 19, 2001,
order granting Plaintiff’s notion to publish.]

Deci ded: June 19, 2001

Stewart E. Schiffer, Acting Assistant Attorney General; David M
Cohen, Director; A. David Lafer, Senior Trial Counsel; Commerci al
Litigation Branch, Cvil Dwvision, United States Departnent of
Justice (Mchele D. Lynch); AnnMarie Hi ghsmth, Ofice of the Chief
Counsel, United States Custons Service, O Counsel; and Jeffrey B.
Whal en, O Counsel, Attorney, Ofice of Regulations & Rulings,
United States Custons Service, for Plaintiff.”

Coudert Brothers (Steven H.  Becker, Robert L. Eisen, Paul A
Horow tz, Scott D. Schauf); Shaw Pittman (Jack MKay, Mchele N
Tanaka), for Defendants.

"Ms. Lynch has in the neantinme been substituted by Ada E.
Bosque as the attorney of record for the Plaintiff in this
action. M. Lynch appears in the caption because she wote the
Plaintiff’s notion to publish and represented the Plaintiff when
t he Decenber 14, 2000 Menorandum and Order was issued.



OPI NI ON
Pogue, Judge: The follow ng Menorandumand Order is in response to
Def endants’ |etter dated Novenmber 20, 2000, requesting pretria
rulings on specific issues briefed in the initial and suppl enent al
pretrial nmenoranda, and in view of the parties’ responses to the
Court’s Decenber 5, 2000, request that the parties comment on how

the Nnth Circuit’'s decision in Nppon Mniature Bearing

Corporation v. Wise, 230 F.3d 1131 (9'" Cir. (Cal.) 2000), affects

t he proceedi ngs before this Court. The purpose of these rulings is
to assist the parties in narrowing the issues for trial.

The disclainmer in [N ppon Mniature Bearing ("NVB")] catal ogs

which reads as follows: "The conpany reserves the right to

change the specifications and other information included in
the catal og without notice."

During the tine period relevant to this dispute, NWB s sal es
cat al ogs cont ai ned one of two disclainers regardi ng changes to the
products advertised in the catalogs. The disclainer in its |ong-
form catal ogs distributed in 1986 and 1987 stated, "The conpany
reserves the right to change specifications and other information
included in this catalog w thout notice." See Def.’s Supp.
Pretrial Mem at 3, Annex A The disclainmer in two short-form
cat al ogs dat ed August 1988 st ated, "Specifications and data subject
to change without notice.”™ See id. at 3 n.3, Annex A

Def endants submit that "the disclainers in [D efendant NWB' s
catal ogs effectively negate any alleged falsity in statenments made

by [D]efendants to the U S. Custons Service ("Custons”), and thus



the Court should dismss the [P]laintiff’s case as [P]laintiff
cannot satisfy this legal prerequisite for liability under 19
US C 81592 [("Section 592")]." Def.’s Supp. Pretrial Mem at 1-
2. Defendants further argue that "froma ‘materiality’ standpoint,
in view of the disclainers, Custons cannot legitimtely claimeven
to have been msled by the catalog into applying inadequate
scrutiny to the bearings and their admssibility . . . ." 1d. at
5. Plaintiff maintains, to the contrary, that "this | anguage has
no effect upon the Governnment’s clains because the [D]efendants
cannot disclaim their legal obligation to report accurate and
conplete information to Custons.” Pl.’s Supp. Pretrial Mem at 2.

As a prelimnary matter, the Court notes that Defendant NVB,
whi ch i ssued the catal ogs through its sales affiliate, first becane
aware of the substitution of DD for 440C steel in July, 1987
Consequently, the disclainers contained in the August 1988 short-
formcatal ogsBthat is, those catal ogs i ssued after NMB becane awar e
of the substitutionBcan have no effect on Defendants’ liability.*
A disclainmer reserving for the conpany the right "to change"
speci fications between publications of sal es catal ogs does not, by
its | anguage, reserve for the conpany the right to withhold, in any
subsequent publication, changes of which the conpany is aware. See
di scussion of "400 series stainless steel” description infra.

The issue of the effect of the disclainmer in the |ong-form

catal ogs remains. The Court turns first to Defendants’ claimthat

'We note that M nebea, the parent conpany of NVB, was aware
of the substitution during the entire period in dispute. W
decline at this point to decide the Htachi liability issue
briefed by the parties.



the disclainer negates any alleged falsity of its statenents.
Assum ng, arguendo, that Plaintiff prevails at trial onits claim
that the statements in the catal ogs are statenents nmade to Custons
as part of Defendants’ invoice, Defendants had an obligation under

19 U.S.C. 8§ 1485(a)(4) to "produce to the appropriate custons

officer any 1invoice, paper, letter, docunent or information
received showing that such . . . statenents are not true or
correct.” A disclaimer mght be effective as a general notice to

custoners that the products offered in an adverti senent may not be
avai lable in the exact formadvertised. See Def.’s Supp. Pretrial

Mem at 4 (citing Norton Tire Co. v. Tire Kingdom Co., 858 F.2d

1533 (11'" Cir. 1988)). A disclaimer is not, however, effective
agai nst the statutory obligation to informCustons that a statenent
t hat was once trueBhere, that the bearings were conposed of 440CBi s
no | onger true.?

Moreover, the disclainer does not prevent Plaintiff, as a
matter of law, fromproving materiality. Custons’ regulation, 19
CF.R Part 171 App. B(A), provides that a statenment "is materi al

if it has the potential to alter the . . . admssibility of

*The correctness of this conclusion is confirned by the
effect courts have found disclainers to have in other contexts.
For exanple, in contracts cases, a general disclainmer nust yield
to a specific obligation contained in the contract, if the two
are inconsistent. See, e.qg., Consolidated Data Term nals v.
Applied Digital Data Systems, Inc., 708 F.2d 385, 391 (9" Gir.
1983) (appl ying New York law to find that, "[w] here a contract
i ncl udes both specific warranty | anguage and a general disclainer
of warranty liability, the former prevails over the latter where
the two cannot be reasonably reconciled"). Simlarly here, a
general disclainmer concerning the truth of statenents nade nust
yield to the specific obligation contained in the statute to
guarantee the truth of statenents nade to Custons. See 19 U. S. C
8 1845 (requiring inporter to make a "decl arati on under oath"
that all statements nmade are "true and correct").




mer chandise . . . ." 19 CF R Part 171 App. B(A) (1987).
Plaintiff bases its "materiality" claimon the argunent that the
mer chandi se was potentially inadmssible due to a possible or
actual Lanham Act violation pursuant to 15 U S C 8§ 1125(a)
("Section 43(a)"). See Pl.’s Supp. Pretrial Mm at 8. |In a case
i nvol vi ng anot her section of the LanhamAct, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1124, the
court expl ained that, "Although courts may al so consi der an al | eged
infringer’s use of a disclaimer . . . the nere presence of a
di scl ai mer does not necessarily prevent custoner confusion." Ross

Cosnetics Distribution Centers, Inc. v. United States, 18 C T 979,

987 (1994). A statenent that results in "consumer confusion" is
also a ground for finding a violation of Section 43(a). Thus,
whet her or not the disclainmer would prevent a conclusion that the
statenent was "literally false" under Section 43(a), a Custons
official could not, wupon reading the disclainmer, conclude
definitively that the nerchandise would not result in custoner
confusion and thus, woul d be adm ssible. This Court concl udes t hat
the nere presence of the disclainer does not, as a matter of | aw,
prevent Plaintiff fromproving that Section 592 civil penalties are

OW ng.

1. Custons’ receipt of information in Septenber 1987 indicating
that NMB was inporting bearings conposed of material other
t han 440C steel. Custons’ June 1, 1998, seizure of docunents
di scussing the use of "DD' steel in bearings marked with the
"SS" part nunber.

Def endant s i nported t he nerchandi se at i ssue bet ween August 1,
1986, and February 27, 1989. Defendants argue that there can be no

ltability for a violation of Section 592 for at |east part of that



peri od, because Custons had actual know edge of the substitution of
DD steel for 440C steel from Septenber 1987 onward. See Def.’s
Pretrial Mem at 40. Defendants allege that Special Agent WIIliam
Dean becane aware of the use of DD steel in Septenber 1987 froma
Custons i nformant; despite this know edge, "he took no action with
respect to [D]efendants’ bearings."” See id. at 5 (7 11).
Mor eover, follow ng a June 1988 raid of NWMB's offices, during which
Cust oms acquired nore evidence of the substitution of DD steel for
440C steel, "Custons still took no action against [D]efendants’
bearings until seizure in January and February 1989." 1d. (Y 11).
According to Defendants, "Custons admtted mllions of NVB beari ngs
wi th know edge that they were nade of DD steel." 1d. (1 12). The
| egal significance of Custons’ s knowl edge, urge Defendants, is that
it negates Plaintiff’s theory of materiality: "once Custons | ear ned
that [D]efendants had substituted steel in their bearings, it
cannot claimthat it was sonmehow msled into not giving adequate
scrutiny to the bearings in order to determne their
admssibility.” See id. at 40-41 n.23. Mre broadly, Defendants
suggest that, in order to prosecute under Section 592, Plaintiff
must point to "reliance by Custons on the allegedly false
statenment." Def.’s Pretrial Mem at 41 n.24, and cites therein.
Def endants’ legal theory is incorrect. "Mteriality" for
pur poses of Section 592 is determ ned wi thout regard to whether the
inporter’s false statenent to Custons actually m sled Custons, or
whet her Custons actually relied on the false statenment. See 19
CF.R Part 171 App. B(A)(a statement "is material if it has the

potential to alter the . . . admssibility of nerchandise . . . or



if it tends to conceal an unfair trade practice . . . .")(enphases

added); United States v. Daewoo International, 12 CI'T 889, 894, 696

F. Supp. 1534, 1540 (1988), vacated on other grounds, 13 C T 76,
704 F. Supp. 1067 (1988)(fal se statenments are material if they have
"a natural tendency to influence, or [were] capable of influencing,
t he deci sion of [Custons] in making a determ nation required to be

made") (enphases added) (cites omtted); United States v. Hol ngui st,

36 F.3d 154, 161 (1° cir. 1994)(the focus of an inquiry into
materiality is not what effect a fal se statenent actual ly may have,
but whether it has "the potential significantly to affect the
integrity or operation of the inportation process as a
whol e") (enphasi s added). This approach is in accord wth the
fundanmental principle that the burdenis on the inporter to provide
true and accurate information to Custons; the burden is not on
Custons to "find out" non-conplying inporters. That Custons may
have known that NMB nade fal se statenents to Custons does not mnake
the statenents either true or accurate, nor does it make the

statenents not "material” as that term has been interpreted.

1. NVB's distribution, in August 1988, of a catal og indicating
t hat bearings with "SS" part nunbers were made from400 series
stai nl ess steel (as opposed to 440C steel as stated in earlier
cat al ogs) .

Def endants further argue that there can be no liability for a
violation of Section 592 after August, 1988. At that tinme, NMB
i ssued a revised short-formcatal og indicating that bearings with
"SS" part nunbers were made froma "400 series stainless steel.”

See Def.'s Pretrial Mem at 41. The legal significance of this



revision, according to Defendants, is that it renedi ed any possi bl e
violation of the Lanham Act by indicating to Custons that the
beari ngs were not nmade of 440C steel. See id. at 41-42.

Def endants’ argunment cannot be accepted. First, as 440C is
itself a "400 series stainless steel"™ pursuant to Al SI standards,
Def endants sinply cannot nmaintain that Custonms should have known
fromthe catalog revision that the bearings were not conposed of
440C. And even if Custons shoul d have known t hat the bearings were
not made of 440C, Custons coul d not have known fromthe description
"400 series stainless steel"” that the bearings were nade of DD
Moreover, it is uncontested that DD is not recogni zed by the Al SI,
see Second Amended Pretrial Order, Stm. Uncontested Facts at | 73;
thus, it is in a strict sense not true that DD is a "400 series
stainless steel,” even if DD in fact neets the AISI criteria for
that series. In sum the description "400 series stainless steel™
does not by itself extinguish the possibility that Defendants

vi ol ated the Lanham Act.?®

V. The effect of the Nnth Grcuit’s decision in N ppon Mniature
Bearing Corporation v. Wise, 230 F.3d 1131 (9'" Gr. (Cal.)
2000), on the proceedings before this Court.

In a letter dated Decenmber 5, 2000, the Court asked the

parties to address the Ninth Crcuit’s decisionin N ppon Mniature

Bearing Corporation v. Wise, 230 F.3d 1131 (9'" Cir. (Cal.) 2000)

]n Pacanor Bearings, Inc. v. Mnebea Co., Ltd., 918 F
Supp. 491, 503 n.14 (D.N.H 1996), the district court noted the
possibility that the representation "400 series stainless steel™
could be, if not "literally false," "susceptible to the alternate
8 43(a) prong of ‘consunmer confusion.’"




("NVB") . Specifically, the Court noted that the Ninth Crcuit
di stingui shed between jurisdiction over clains related to Custons’
penal ty assessnent, and clains related to seizure. The Court asked
the parties to consult, and coment on how the Ninth Crcuit’s
opi nion affects the proceedings at this Court.

In its comments of Decenber 7, 2000, Plaintiff inforned the
Court that the parties had consulted, and were unable to reach
agreenent. See Pl.’s Comments at 1. The United States reiterated
its position "that the CIT has jurisdiction over the 926 entries
listed on Exhibit Ato the Conplaint but that it |lacks jurisdiction
over the [D] efendants’ counterclaimwhich arises solely fromthe
ni net een shipnents that were seized by Custons and which are not
included within the 926 entries.” 1d. Inits comments of Decenber
12, 2000, Defendants, w thout indicating agreenment wwth Plaintiff’s
position, did, however, decide "to voluntarily wthdraw [the
counterclaim related to the nineteen shipnments of seized bal
bearings] in order to narrow the issues for trial." Def.’s
Comments at 2. The Court has reviewed Defendants’ anended

schedules to the Pretrial Order, and will approve these anendnents.

I T 1S SO ORDERED

Donal d C. Pogue
Judge

Dat ed: June 19, 2001
New Yor k, New Yor k



